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 JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
COMPLAINT 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 1. Plaintiff Heike Albert (hereinafter “Plaintiff” or “Ms. Albert”), by her attorneys 

Sanford Wittels & Heisler, LLP, brings this action against Defendant DRS Technologies, Inc. 

(“Defendant,” “DRS,” “the Company” or “DRS Technologies”). The Company’s principal place 

of business is located at 5 Sylvan Way, Parsippany, NJ 07054. Ms. Albert seeks legal and 

equitable remedies for Defendant’s unlawful gender discrimination and retaliation against her 
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during and after her employment at the Company.  She sues for declaratory and injunctive relief, 

back pay, front pay, compensatory, nominal, and punitive damages and attorneys’ fees, costs, 

and expenses under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000(e)-5(f), et seq., 

and the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination, N.J. Stat. Ann. § 10:5-1, et seq.  Plaintiff 

requests a jury trial on each of these accounts.   

II. PARTIES   

A. Plaintiff Heike Albert 

2. Plaintiff is a female citizen of the United States who resides in Palm Bay, Florida.  

From October 1, 2007 until January 23, 2009, Ms. Albert worked for Defendant DRS 

Technologies, Inc. in its offices in Melbourne, Florida.  Plaintiff originally was hired by 

Defendant as a Program Manager within the Optronics Division. In November, 2008, Defendant 

reassigned Plaintiff to the Mass Mounted Sights (“MMS”) program until her termination on 

January 23, 2009.  

B. Defendant DRS Technologies 

3. Corporate Defendant DRS Technologies, Inc. is a leading supplier of integrated 

products, services, and support to military forces, intelligence agencies, and prime contractors 

worldwide. With over $3.3 billion in revenues, DRS is headquartered in Parsippany, New Jersey 

and employs approximately 10,200 individuals at its offices and operations worldwide. DRS is 

an employer under Title VII, 42 U.S.C § 2000e (b).  

4. Defendant carried out its discrimination at the direction of and/or with the aid and 

assistance of DRS Technologies’ managerial level employees and/or officers, including but not 

limited to the following persons: 

● Todd Stirtzinger, Senior Vice President, Programs; 
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● Gary Keymont, Vice President of Program Management; 

● Pat Zajac, Director of Production Programs, Warfighter Solutions EO; 

● Robert Klaver, Vice President, Avionics Business Unit; and 

● Karen Fidgeon, Manager, Human Resources. 

 5. Each of these members of the DRS leadership team engineered, approved, 

ratified, and/or assisted in the wrongful acts described in this Complaint, including the 

discriminatory treatment of Ms. Albert, her unlawful termination, and the Company’s illegal 

retaliation.  

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over Ms. Albert’s claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 

U.S.C § 1332, and 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000-e-5(f)(3)), and principles of pendent jurisdiction. 

7.  Venue is proper because DRS Technologies has its headquarters and principal 

office in Parsippany, New Jersey.  

8. The amount in controversy exceeds $75,000 exclusive of interest and costs. 

IV. ADMINISTRATIVE EXHAUSTION 

9. Plaintiff timely filed a Charge of Discrimination with the Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) on April 1, 2009 (EEOC No. 510-2009-03352). On April 

30, 2009, the EEOC Office in Miami transferred the complaint to the Florida Commission on 

Human Relations (“FCHR”) for investigation (FCHR No. 200901967). Ms. Albert received her 

Notice of Right to Sue from the EEOC on May 3, 2010 and timely instituted this suit within 90 

days.  
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V. STATEMENT OF CLAIMS 

10. During Ms. Albert’s employment at DRS, the Defendant treated her differently 

and discriminated against her in the terms and conditions of her employment.  When Ms. Albert 

complained, DRS retaliated against her, as described in ¶¶30-33 below.  

11. Ms. Albert told DRS about the gender discrimination she suffered in the terms 

and conditions of her employment but DRS refused to provide any remedy.  

12. Since DRS terminated her employment, Ms. Albert has been unable to secure 

other employment due to interference and retaliatory actions taken by the Defendant.  

VI.  BACKGROUND FACTS 

13. In September, 2007, Ms. Albert accepted the position as a Program Manager for 

DRS, which relocated her family to Melbourne, Florida from Los Angeles, California.  

14. On October 1, 2007, Ms. Albert began her employment with the Defendant. She 

initially was hired as a Program Manager (later changed to Program Manager IV) and reported to 

Robert Naranjo.  She was tasked by Mr. Naranjo to 1) manage an Integrated Product Team 

(“IPT”), 2) negotiate with key suppliers, and 3) lead the IPT in the reduction of scrap by at least 

10%.  

15. Ms. Albert successfully accomplished all of this.  She managed the team, 

successfully engaged in negotiations with key suppliers in October and November, and she 

substantially exceeded her scrap reduction goal.  Ms. Albert reduced scrap by an average of 57.2 

percent over a three month period from October to December 2007, and because of her work, the 

Defendant saved a total of $473,744. Mr. Naranjo, her manager, commended Ms. Albert for her 

stellar accomplishments. 
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16. In January, 2008, Ms. Albert approached Mr. Naranjo for more responsibility. Mr. 

Naranjo agreed and, under his supervision, Ms. Albert began directing the day-to-day activity 

within the IPT Thermal Weapons Sights (TWS) team. Ms. Albert was successful with her new 

duties and even was responsible for placing one of her programs ahead of schedule in 

production.  

17. Throughout Ms. Albert’s first months at DRS, she worked from a cubicle in a 

common area of the Melbourne, Florida facility. After quickly demonstrating her value to DRS 

Technologies, Ms. Albert was awarded a new window office in February, 2008.  

18. In March, 2008, Ms. Albert was informed that her supervisor, Mr. Naranjo, would 

be replaced by Pat Zajac. Mr. Zajac and Mr. Naranjo overlapped for approximately one month as 

Ms. Albert’s supervisors. 

19. During this overlap (April, 2008), Ms. Albert received a strong rating of 4.0/5.0 

for her 2008 performance appraisal.  Noted in this appraisal document are Ms. Albert’s 

demonstrated program management skills, strong technical background, and successful efforts to 

schedule and execute tasks for her team.  Though the review was conducted by both managers, 

Mr. Zajac had not yet fully assumed the role of Acting Director of Program Management. 

20. In April, 2008, after Mr. Naranjo’s departure, Mr. Zajac became acting Director 

of Program Management in addition to his role as Program Manager of Soldier Systems. From 

this point forward, Ms. Albert reported to Mr. Zajac.  

21. Mr. Zajac subjected Ms. Albert to numerous acts of discrimination on the basis of 

Ms. Albert’s gender. Mr. Zajac treated Ms. Albert differently from her similarly situated male 

counterparts.  More specifically, DRS, through Mr. Zajac:  

● excluded Ms. Albert from necessary customer and team correspondence,  
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● terminated meetings meant as good-faith attempts to address work-related issues,    

● without good reason, moved Ms. Albert to a demeaning and inferior office, 

● excluded Ms. Albert from mandatory management meetings,  

● misrepresented Ms. Albert’s managerial level and job title,  

● advertised Ms. Albert’s position as being open approximately six months before  

her termination notice,  

● assigned Ms. Albert to inferior jobs,  

● gave her an unfair performance appraisal, which was conducted without regard to 

due process and standard DRS procedures. 

22. Ms. Albert filed an EEO compliant in April, 2009.  When DRS learned this, the 

Company retaliated against Ms. Albert.  DRS has also interfered with and hindered Ms. Albert’s 

attempts to get new employment after she was fired in January, 2009.  

23. During the summer of 2008, Mr. Zajac prohibited Ms. Albert from attending 

customer meetings, although male members of her team (Brian Backer and Mitch Burnette) were 

still permitted to attend. Though she was repeatedly told that she was responsible for all the day-

to-day activities involving certain customers, Ms. Albert was removed entirely from the 

important customer meetings, and thus was completely unable to participate in those activities.   

24. In May and June, 2008, Ms. Albert communicated her concerns regarding the 

disparate treatment she was experiencing to Bob Klaver, VP of the Avionics Business Unit of 

DRS.  Mr. Klaver, who had been designated by DRS as a “mentor” for Ms. Albert, advised Ms. 

Albert to establish daily meetings with Mr. Zajac to open communication channels. 

25. Ms. Albert and Mr. Zajac established daily meetings for approximately three 

weeks; however, Mr. Zajac unilaterally determined to end the meetings in late June, 2008. 
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26. In June of 2008, DRS forced Ms. Albert to move out the office she had received 

early in her employment as a reward for her accomplishments, and into an inferior office.  Ms. 

Albert’s office was given to a less senior male employee.  None of her male counterparts was 

asked to move to a less desirable work space.  Ms. Albert was moved to an office located in a 

trailer behind the main facility, a space she shared with two other employees.  

27. Coinciding with the aforementioned efforts to exclude Ms. Albert from 

communication, meetings, company changes, and team assignments, the Defendant began 

soliciting to replace Ms. Albert as early as July 14, 2008. This date was six months prior to Ms. 

Albert’s termination and approximately three months after her positive April, 2008 performance 

appraisal.  

28. In spite of the difficult work environment, Ms. Albert continued to excel in her 

work. In August 2008, Ms. Albert led her team in a Physical Configuration Audit (“PCA”) as 

requested by her supervisor, Mr. Zajac.  Her efforts contributed to the release from the 

government to DRS of a one-time payment totaling approximately $73 million, the biggest in 

DRS history. Mr. Zajac commended the success of the team and praised Ms. Albert for her 

significant contribution.   

29. Despite her success and stellar performance, in November, 2008, Ms. Albert’s 

work was reduced to paperwork and menial tasks.  

30. On January 23, 2009, Ms. Albert’s employment with DRS was terminated. There 

were 16 program managers at DRS, and none of those selected for termination on January 23, 

2009 was male.  In fact, Ms. Albert was the only woman reporting to Mr. Zajac who held the 

position of program manager.  She was told that the reason that she was selected was because the 
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company was “restructuring.”  Ms. Albert’s termination was discriminatory, based on gender and 

in retaliation for her previous complaints of discrimination. 

31. Ms. Albert received a higher score than most similarly situated males on the 

evaluation requirements that DRS claims it used to determine who would be terminated. 

However, Ms. Albert was the only program manager terminated, while other male program 

managers with lower evaluation scores were allowed to accept further employment opportunities 

at DRS or were retained in their positions. 

32. At the time of her termination, DRS management told Ms. Albert that her position 

was eliminated.  This was false.  Shortly after firing Ms. Albert under the guise of a reduction in 

force, DRS hired a man to assume the responsibilities of Ms. Albert’s position. He, like Ms. 

Albert, was assigned to report to Mr. Zajac as a Program Manager IV. 

33. In an effort to substantiate its pretextual position that Ms. Albert’s termination 

was due to poor performance, DRS created a false 2009 performance evaluation and submitted 

this document to the Florida Commission on Human Relations. Notably, at the time of Ms. 

Albert’s termination, DRS did not specify performance as a cause for termination. 

34. Since DRS terminated her, Ms. Albert has not been able to find suitable 

employment.  In retaliation for her EEO complaints, DRS employees have provided false and 

negative information about her performance to prospective employers, preventing her from 

securing new employment.   

COUNT I 
VIOLATIONS OF TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964, 

42 U.S.C. § 2000, et seq., AS AMENDED 
(GENDER-BASED DISCRIMINATION) 

 
34.   Ms. Albert re-alleges and incorporates by reference each allegation contained in 

previous paragraphs of this complaint. 
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 35.   DRS has discriminated against Ms. Albert by treating her differently from and 

less preferably than similarly situated male employees, and by subjecting her to discriminatory 

assignments to less desirable jobs, discriminatory denials of training opportunities, 

discriminatory applications of employment policies and practices, discriminatory performance 

appraisals, disparate terms and conditions of employment, termination, and other forms of 

discrimination in violation of Title VII. 

 36. DRS’s conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful, malicious, reckless, and 

conduct in callous disregard of the rights of Ms. Albert. 

 37.  As a direct and proximate result of DRS’s conduct, Ms. Albert has suffered 

economic harm – including loss of compensation and other employment benefits – as well as 

emotional harm, anguish, and humiliation. 

 38.   DRS’s policies, practices and/or procedures have produced a disparate impact 

against Ms. Albert with respect to the terms and conditions of her employment. 

 39.   Because of the continuous and persistent nature of DRS’s discriminatory conduct, 

throughout Ms. Albert’s employment at DRS, the continuing violation doctrine applies to all of 

the violations alleged herein. 

 40. Ms. Albert is therefore entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available under 

Title VII. 

COUNT II 
VIOLATIONS OF TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 

42 U.S.C. § 2000E-3 
(RETALIATION) 

 
41.   Ms. Albert re-alleges and incorporates by reference each allegation in the 

previous paragraphs of this Complaint. 
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42.   DRS retaliated against Ms. Albert because she insisted upon a workplace free of 

gender discrimination and because she filed an EEO complaint alleging gender-based 

discrimination.   

43. In retaliation for Ms. Albert’s complaining to DRS and to the EEOC about the 

gender discrimination described herein, DRS subjected Ms. Albert to adverse employment 

actions, including demotion of duties and disparate terms and conditions of employment as 

compared with her male counterparts, and finally, termination. 

44. DRS’s actions were intentional, deliberate, willful, malicious, reckless and were 

in callous disregard of Ms. Albert’s rights. 

45. As a direct result of DRS’s ongoing retaliatory actions, Ms. Albert suffered 

economic losses, mental and emotional harm, anguish, and humiliation, including an ongoing 

inability to find comparable alternate employment.  

 46.   Because of the continuous and persistent nature of DRS’s discriminatory conduct 

throughout Ms. Albert’s employment at DRS, the continuing violation doctrine applies to all of 

the violations alleged herein. 

47.  Based on the retaliation Ms. Albert suffered at DRS, she is entitled to all legal and 

equitable remedies available under Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e.  

COUNT III 
VIOLATIONS OF THE NEW JERSEY LAW AGAINST DISCRIMINATION  

N.J. STAT. ANN. §10:5-1 et seq. 
(GENDER-BASED DISCRIMINATION) 

 
34.   Ms. Albert re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

contained in each and every aforementioned paragraph as though fully set forth herein. 

 35.   DRS has discriminated against Ms. Albert by treating her differently from and 

less preferably than similarly situated male employees, and by subjecting her to discriminatory 
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assignments to less desirable jobs, discriminatory denials of training opportunities, 

discriminatory applications of employment policies and practices, discriminatory performance 

appraisals, disparate terms and conditions of employment, termination, and other forms of 

discrimination in violation of the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination. 

 36. DRS’s conduct has been intentional, deliberate, willful, malicious, reckless, and 

conduct in callous disregard of the rights of Ms. Albert. 

 37.  As a direct and proximate result of DRS’s conduct, Ms. Albert has suffered 

economic harm – including loss of compensation and other employment benefits – as well as 

emotional harm, anguish, and humiliation. 

 38.   DRS’s policies, practices and/or procedures have produced a disparate impact 

against Ms. Albert with respect to the terms and conditions of her employment. 

 39.   Because of the continuous and persistent nature of DRS’s discriminatory conduct 

throughout Ms. Albert’s employment at DRS, the continuing violation doctrine applies to all of 

the violations alleged herein. 

 40. Ms. Albert is therefore entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available under 

New Jersey Law Against Discrimination. 

COUNT IV 
VIOLATIONS OF THE NEW JERSEY LAW AGAINST DISCRIMINATION 

 N.J. STAT. ANN. §10:5-12(d) 
(RETALIATION) 

 
41.   Ms. Albert re-alleges and incorporates by reference each allegation in the 

previous paragraphs of this Complaint. 

42.   DRS retaliated against Ms. Albert because she insisted upon a workplace free of 

gender discrimination and because she filed an EEO complaint alleging gender-based 

discrimination.   
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43. In retaliation for Ms. Albert’s complaining to DRS and to the EEOC about the 

gender discrimination described herein, DRS subjected Ms. Albert to adverse employment 

actions, including demotion of duties and disparate terms and conditions of employment as 

compared with her male counterparts, and finally, termination. 

44. DRS’s actions were intentional, deliberate, willful, malicious, reckless and were 

in callous disregard of Ms. Albert’s rights. 

45. As a direct result of DRS’s ongoing retaliatory actions, Ms. Albert suffered 

economic losses, mental and emotional harm, anguish, and humiliation, including an ongoing 

inability to find comparable alternate employment.  

 46.   Because of the continuous and persistent nature of DRS’s discriminatory conduct 

throughout Ms. Albert’s employment at DRS, the continuing violation doctrine applies to all of 

the violations alleged herein. 

47.  Based on the retaliation Ms. Albert suffered at DRS, she is entitled to all legal and 

equitable remedies available under the N.J. Stat. Ann. §10:5-12(d).  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendant as follows: 

A.  An Order placing or restoring Plaintiff Albert into the position she would now occupy 

but for DRS’s discriminatory policies, practices and/or procedures; 

B.  An Order directing DRS to adjust the wage rates and benefits for Plaintiff Albert to 

the level she would be enjoying but for the Defendant’s discriminatory policies, practices and/or 

procedures; 




